Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
...from the witnesses for Green to appear before the Subcommittee today. Today's hearing will examine how consumer reports and scores are created, how they are used in today's financial services economy and the impact they have on consumers. This hearing will also focus on reports completed by the Federal Reserve and the Federal Trade Commission pursuant to the requirements of Section 215 of the FACT Act. 
We will be limiting opening statements to 10 minutes per side but without objection the record will be held open for all members' opening statements to be made part of the record. We may have members that wish to attend who do not sit on this Committee. As they join us I will offer unanimous consent motion for each to sit with the Committee and ask question when time allows. I yield myself as much time as I may consume. 
As we begin this hearing on credit scores and reports, we must recognize that the American consumer faces a very different landscape than 30 years ago. Credit cards are so widespread that they are routinely marketed to college students. Your local bank, that is if you're lucky enough to have one in your neighborhood, is more than likely owned by the same faceless Wall Street Corporation that you can shop for loans and car insurance online, something that wasn’t even imagined 30 years ago. In large part, what has made all these possible are the now ubiquitous credit scores and reports created and provided largely by companies that sit before us today. 
Driven by an increasingly impersonal and homogenized lending environment, lenders, insurance companies, utilities, and even cell phone companies are relying more and more on credit scores and reports to determine whether a consumer is worthy of their attention and indeed their services. I know the increase use of credit scores has expanded credit to previously ineligible borrowers and the standardization of this system has minimized some of the bias present in our economy. But the system has created new concerns in dangers for consumers especially if you're Black or Latino that we should address. 
A good credit score and a correspondingly favorable credit report have become the passport to a stable economic future for today's consumer. But these passports are being issued by thousands of private for-profit companies that if you can identify using opaque formulas that are hidden from the American people and hidden from Congress. In a democracy, there is something unseemly in having one's life judged and possibly even guided no matter how benignly or unintentionally by private for-profit companies through a system where it is impossible for one to opt out. This fact alone causes me to doubt the fairness of our current system and structure. 
For instance, as Mr. Hendricks will mention in his testimonies, consumers are not commonly allowed to have access to the scores that lenders and other financial consumers of data actually use to make lending decisions. Let me repeat that. For instance, as we will hear in the testimony today, consumers, Americans are not commonly allowed access to the scores that lenders and other institutional consumers of data actually use to make lending decisions. Instead you are showed the educational score. That is not the score used by the lenders to determine necessarily. Your credit card rate can be different than that used to determine the rate for qualifying for it. 
So what's going on is that they're selling you a product that is never really used to make any decision about your creditworthiness. How is that educational? On top of that, lenders use their own private data to further determine what rate or fee they want to charge a consumer. For an industry that is supposed to be focused solely on accuracy and predictability, there seems to be quite a bit of effort going on behind the scenes to prevent consumers for seeing things as they really were. Americans do not know where these scores are coming from and how they are created. I have strong reservations about allowing the use of credit report to determine employability and insurance fees. For example, 22% of Latinos in America have thin file that are given a worst rate for loans and insurance and can even lead to them being rejected for a loan. 
At a time when Americans are dealing with 10% unemployment rate which is in fact actually higher in many communities across America, I do not believe that our constituents should have to worry about whether or not their credit report is entirely accurate or even worry about it when they should be focused on finding a new way to pay their rent and feed their kids. We shouldn’t allow the secrecy of our current system to affect consumers' livelihood without their knowing the rules of the game and what they can do about it before it's too late. 
Consumers should know that a medical debt that they already paid off will affect their credit for seven years to come or their being away on military service in Iraq, in Afghanistan protecting this country may not be much of a mitigating factor for the credit bureaus and institutional consumers of credit scores and reports as recent immigrant creditworthiness is often lower than the general population regardless of how good their credit history was in their home country. 
These are just some of the concerns that make it clear that the current system has not reached acceptable levels of fairness or transparency. Finally, I have concern that with banks and others taking credit away from consumers due to the banks' own problems -- not those of the consumers -- your formulas are not accurately predicting the consumers' true likelihood of default. Just because some bank is consolidating their credit lines they have out there for all their consumers, doesn’t mean that every single one of them is a greater credit risk. There are many legislative proposals circulating right now on credit scores and reports. Some I have co-sponsored and some I plan to introduce myself. We will be holding further hearings on these proposals after we get a harder look at credit based insurance scores in the near future. 
Many of these concerns that I have are with institutional consumers of credit scores and reports so that I can assure you we will be inviting them to sit down and have their own discussion with our Subcommittee about this as well. I guess basically I don’t know that if I'm a good driver of a car, I check the locks on my house every night and I make sure that the electricity is up-to-date and the gas is working good and I got my roof, why should I pay more for my insurance on my house? I go 55 and a 55, don’t go through red lights, put my turn signals on when I'm supposed to and I'm a good driver. I don’t think I should pay more for car insurance. 
Yet, because people are using credit scores, so if I'm one of those 40 million Americans without healthcare insurance or the tens of millions of Americans without any job and I become ill for seven years, that illness. I was just thinking before I came up here, when I was in school I used to be able to go to the teacher and say, "You know, I wasn't up for two weeks. I was sick." So she gave me time to make up so I could study. So there could be a true reflection of who I was and what grade I should receive. 

But in America if you get sick you just can't take a -- I got a sick card or a note from your doctor to the credit bureau and say, "By the way, don’t tell everybody I'm a bad credit risk. I was sick." I mean if that's the way we dealt with employment at the end of the year, I know that if I had an employee and they were sick in the hospital, I mean sick, they were gone for a couple of months, I don’t think I would evaluate them on their absence during those two months. 
Yet, credit scores are routinely used if people get sick because for seven years it takes for them to fix that. And some will say, "Oh, well, you know, they didn’t pay it." Yeah, well, they were out of a job. They were sick. It was something beyond their control. They were ill. And in America I just think a credit score shouldn’t be used for that especially when it's going to determine how much you pay for other products, not for a job. Now if you're in a job interview you might be able to explain but you don’t know because someone somewhere is using that. 
So with that I'm going to close my opening statement and yield to Mr. Hensarling. 
Mr. Jeb Hensarling:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I can't help but notice the television camera that's facing us. Hopefully, there'll be a number of insurance companies in the market who know that you're such a good customer and then hopefully there'll be more competition for your business and you'll get a better rate. I would hope that indeed that you and other members of your party would support legislation to make these markets more competitive instead of less competitive. I did -- I believe I heard you correctly in your statement saying that you are fearful that consumers are ending up in a system where it is impossible for consumers to opt out. 
To some of us, it sounds a little bit like the healthcare bill that was passed on Sunday. It will be very difficult for consumers to opt out indeed. Nonetheless, I appreciate you calling this hearing, Mr. Chairman. I think it's very important that we talk about the role that credit scores and resources play in our economy. 
Clearly, when there is information that is accurate that credit scores have done a lot to help consumers throughout our economy, they have proven to be doors of opportunity for all demographics and geographies. And then when you think about it through a simple number, there are people throughout America, consumers are empowered by simple number with the opportunity to borrow from a lender that they've never met -- never met. And in order to buy a house, a car, or any number of items that in past years they would have had to save for weeks, months, years before they could purchase that particular item. 
I think that the modern credit score has certainly helped democratize credit throughout our society and I think all in all that this is a very good thing. If we allow these scores to be -- if we allow the data companies to process the scores properly and reporting agencies are able to compare people with similar characteristics or borrows that might help from different backgrounds, yes, you do have a democratization of credit and the retired schoolteacher and grandmother of three and these key taxes are unable and privileged to represent in Congress can access credit as well as maybe the union construction worker from your district, Mr. Chairman, their creditworthiness is now determined through an impartial formula. 
But the latest pair in the system and again in determining the credit score, it's got to be complete, it's got to be accurate. Otherwise, the outcome is going to be misleading and frankly I think ultimately that hurts the consumer. And a lot of work has been done. I know that we were both on this Committee as the FACT Act was passed in 2003. I look forward to hearing to the testimony, listening to our witnesses on their reaction to that act, any suggestions that they may have. But I'm still somewhat fearful that this hearing may be leading to a movement to somehow make credit files thinner. I'm not sure that's going to be helpful. 
Number one, to me the thicker the file gives a more complete picture of the customer and they are more willing to land ultimately. I think that brings down the cost of credit and I think it makes the availability of credit even greater. At least my research in the history shows that before the advent widely use of the -- the wide use throughout our economy of credit scores and again that’s exactly what we saw, a less credit. And so if we go down the road within thinner files, several things are going to happen. 
Number one, some people are going to be denied access to credit that they get otherwise access through the market. Some will have to pay more credit. Others, as we get away from any kind of risk-based pricing, will have yet another bailout foisted upon us by the United States Congress for those with good credit scores end up having to bail out those with bad credit scores. I certainly don’t see the merit in that. 
And then finally I really question the wisdom and propriety of the United States Congress essentially gagging those who wish to exercise their right to offer opinions about the creditworthiness of their fellow citizens. You know, we should tread very lightly before we trample upon commercial free speech. And I think we need to look very, very carefully before we go through that. And again, if we just look to the recent credit card legislation where some of us said, you know, if you end up passing this thing you're going to lead to higher interest rates, more fees, less credit. Sure enough the law was passed and that's exactly what we see. 
Now I know there are many instances that adversely impact certain individuals as the Chairman described. But, you know, I'm not sure that the congressionally mandated law that says that all of a sudden a for-profit company has to engage in a charitable business that they may not want to engage in. I would think the answer would be to help the individual involved and put it on budget. This is a nation going bankrupt as is doubling the national debt in five years, tripling it in ten. But if we're going to do this, we ought to at least put it on budget and start making decisions and priorities. 
Anyway, Mr. Chairman, I appreciate you calling the hearing. I look forward to hearing from the witnesses. I yield back.
Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
Then we'll -- if you don’t have anyone now. Mr. Garrett is recognized for five minutes. 
Mr. Scott Garrett:
I would like to thank all the witnesses and I'll be brief. Before I begin, I, too, as a gentleman from Texas was taken aback by the Chairman's comment with regard to the private market and democratization of the idea that we should have the ability to opt out of this segment of a market. But as a gentleman from Texas said just three days ago we said that if you were born in this country or a citizen of this country you cannot opt out of what was just passed the first time in US history of the requirement that you buy a particular product approved by the Federal Government over which you have absolutely no direct control as to whether you want to or not as a price of citizenship. Whether that would be true that the chairman continued his reasoning to the healthcare bill to allow Americans to opt out of that plan or allow the States to opt out of that program. 
And when the Chairman speaks of secrecy versus transparency, my gosh, I don’t think there's anyone back at home or in Congress who actually knows the faceless bureaucrats who will now be imposing upon the industry of this country, the requirements of their health policies and the healthcare going forward. So perhaps we should put priorities and say let's have transparency and openness in the ability to opt out and something even more personal and intimate as there are healthcare as opposed to getting into regulating the credit markets.  
But with that said, I can just say that I was here about six years ago when I first came into Congress back in -- my first year was 2003 and at that time Spencer Bachus was the Ranking Member of the Chair of the Financial Institution Subcommittee and that's when we passed the Fair and Accurate Credit Transaction Act or the FACT Act and that law made a number of important changes as you know for pro consumer changes to the reporting laws. It allowed consumers to have easier access to their credit information as well as what we're looking for and that is improve the accuracy of that information. 
Now during that time, credit scores have become an essential and valuable tool in allowing creditors basically to more aptly priced for risk and that's really what it's all about. Unfortunately, many of my colleagues on the other side of the aisle do not agree with the idea of risk-based pricing whether it is the FHA's loans or credit cards. If you did not allow a company to price for risk, you know what the end result is going to be. It's going to be one of two things, either you will decrease credit availability for some folks or you will increase the cost of credit for other people. 
So I believe that this Committee should work closely and examine closely and be careful in our deliberations before we take any actions that could lead to less accurate credit scores and higher costs or less credit for consumers, you know. 
Finally, the use of accurate credit scoring basically allows consumers to do most things they want to do and that is to manage their financial affairs and provide better control and not less to the consumers. Credit scoring is a useful function of the markets and therefore it should remain free of unnecessary government regulation. When you get right down to it, the very best way to ensure consumers have access to credit and to financial freedom that they need is develop policies here in Congress that will focus on economic growth and job creation as well. And with that, I yield back.  
Chairman Gutierrez:
Gentleman yields back. We have the first panel here: Mr. Evan Hendricks, Editor and Publisher of Privacy Times; Mr. Stuart K. Pratt, President and CEO of Consumer Data Industry Association; Mr. Tom Quinn, Vice President of Global Scoring Solutions, FICO; Mr. Barrett Burns, President and CEO of VantageScore Solutions; Mr. Chet D. Wiermanski, Global Chief Scientist, Analytic Decision and Services, TransUnion; Mr. Stan Oliai, Senior Vice President, Decision Sciences, Experian Decision; Ms. Myra K. Hart, PhD., Senior Vice President, Equifax; Ms. Anne P. Fortney, Partner, Hudson Cook, LLP. We'll begin with Mr. Evan Hendricks for five minutes, please. 
Mr. Evan Hendricks:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman, the Ranking Member for the privilege to appear before the Committee. I would like to run through about a dozen points in my five minutes. 
First, on credit scores. The Congress did pass a really good law in 2003. It's the FACT Act, the amendments to the Fair Credit Reporting Act and they've been very helpful to consumers and I think it makes for a better industry. I think one of the great things it did is it made consumers eligible for one free credit report per year which is something that millions of people have taken advantage of. And for commerce, the credit bureaus have sold twice as many credit reports as they've given away when you include monitoring services. 
So I think we need to take the next step. Consumers should be entitled to one free credit score per year. That credit score should be one that's used by lenders not a so-called educational score which the Chairman sided to. And, you know, in our free marketplace, companies are going to continue to sell educational scores which sometimes we call knock-off scores or since they're not real FICO scores, we call them FAKO scores. But if they're doing that they should have to disclose that they're selling a score that is not used -- well, first to say, are they used by any lenders and if they're not used by any lenders or are they even used by a significant number or a majority of lenders. 
Last thing, on credit scores and this is not on my prepared statement so I apologize and I'll submit something. There's two important fixes that I think this Committee could achieve and actually a lot of people would agree on because the problem is Fannie Mae. Fannie Mae has adopted a policy that if someone has a disputed account on their credit report, they're holding up loans and really making it hard for consumers to get loans. I've written about this and Ken Harney has written about this in his column, a syndicated column. I think that Fannie Mae should be made to justify that policy because I don’t think there's a basis for it and it's really -- it's hurting consumers and it's stopping loans from going through the creditworthy people. 
The other thing is that FICO scores took off in the 1990 'cause Fannie adopted one of the early versions of FICO scores. Now there's a much better version called FICO 08. If Fannie would move forward and adopt that, that would be something that would really improve 'cause there's many things which Mr. Quinn maybe could talk about as to why that's a better score. In terms of accuracy, there's two important standards in the Fair Credit Reporting Act. 
One is that there are reasonable procedures from maximum possible accuracy and the problem there is we still have the same sort of an accuracy problem that we saw 20 years ago. I think it goes to a fundamental issue is our three major credit reporting agencies often like to think of themselves as libraries that simply passively take information from furnishers like creditors and just pass it on when in fact the laws of the standard for them to have a grave responsibility to ensure accuracy and I don’t think they live up to that in very important occasions especially with mixed files and identity theft are causes of serious inaccuracy that would be harmful to consumers. Possibly even bigger problem is the dispute process. 
Naturally, companies want to automate but the credit bureaus have automated to the extent that a consumer makes a dispute and there's a computerized exchange of messages and the law requires a reinvestigation. But the way they do this computerized exchange of messages it doesn’t amount to a real reinvestigation and this is something that's playing out in the courts over and over again. Therefore, inaccuracy continues to be a major problem. The Federal Trade Commission is supposed to be getting ready to do a major accuracy study so far. They have not done a good job with their pilots. 
And I think there's one thing worth noting, independent groups have done studies but the credit bureaus themselves have never done an accuracy study at least in the last 15 years and they are the ones sitting on all the data. We have another issue because of technology and because of entrepreneurship that we have a lot of medium and small-sized consumer reporting agencies popping up but a lot of times consumers don’t know that they are there and they don’t know what they do and sometimes they get ambushed by them. 
I think that considering the proliferation of all these little consumer reporting agencies we should have a registration or requirement. If you're subject to fair credit reporting act, we need to have a comprehensive list of who's gathering data on us so people can exercise their rights to access and correction. 
One example of this that I uncovered recently is called the National Consumer Telecom & Utilities Exchange. This is an exchange between -- run by the utility companies where they aren't keeping records on people having paid their utility bills and then they're screening new applicants against this but it wasn’t clear to the extent that consumers were getting adverse notices and finding out as required by the Fair Credit Reporting Act if this is the basis for them being denied. 
And so I would like to see some transparency there. Originally, they wouldn’t answer a lot of questions I had for them. In employment background screening, I'll just say this. There's a lot of sort of startup companies that simply will do a background check on someone based on simply a name and a date of birth and that means that there's times where I've seen someone like Deborah Adams apply for a job and lose a job because they found another Deborah Adams with a felony record. She never had a felony and someone also like Thomas Paine. That was another person that I saw of people with common names. 
Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
Your time has expired. 

Mr. Evan Hendricks:
Okay. Thank you. 

Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
Thank you. I want to mention that in the interest of time and as agreed by all parties, Mr. Pratt will testify on behalf of his association and the three credit bureaus but they have all submitted written testimony and are here to answer questions. Mr. Pratt, you're recognized for five minutes. 
Mr. Stuart Pratt:
Mr. Chairman and members of the Committee, thank you very much for this opportunity to appear before you today. I'd like to just focus on a few key issues in my oral remarks and let's start with the importance of preserving and expanding data for risk decisions. Our members' database in preserved in invaluable history of how we manage our finances, 18,000 data sources update three billion data elements every month. This Congress, by enacting new laws calling for creditors to do even more to assess a consumer's ability to repay a loan, has recognized the value of these data systems. 
While it might be tempting to eliminate certain data due to the severity of the recession, it is vitally important to preserve the totality of every consumer's credit history. In fact, to prohibit data sources from furnishing data, to require furnishers to delay the furnishing of data, or to prohibit a user from analyzing certain data all are wrong choices. We now know that we must expand data resources which tell the consumer's story. For example, we must ensure that we can verify consumer's income. We must report on utility and telecom payments. Lenders should know when a consumer owns his or her own outright. 
Now turning to scores, no nation has such competitive and innovative market for the development of credit scores. This industry is a US core confidence. It is no mean fee to build the credit scoring system. Years of the research and development and millions of dollars go into this. The resulting software is intellectual property protected by the USPTO. These credit scores are designed to estimate the relative risk of my likelihood of repaying a loan or to predict some other credit behavior. Use of credit scores benefits all of us. Credit scores help lenders lower prices and they help remove even unintentional biases in the marketplace. 
It is the precision and objectivity which the score brings to the table which makes it such an integral part of our nation's lending process. With this basic information about scores in mind, let's now turn to the consumer perspective. Behind every credit score is a credit report. And as we all know in December of 2004, our members went live with their free credit report delivery system and as of now more than 150 million credit file disclosures have been issued. In addition to the credible number of consumers who have reviewed their credit reports, consumers also know more today about their scores than at any point in history. 
Whenever a consumer accesses a score, it is a teachable moment. The reason for score disclosure is educational consumers learn about how scores work and most importantly what matters most in their credit report. Some have expressed concern about which scores are disclosed and we think they have missed the mark for a number of reasons. There is not just one score used by all lenders. It is wrong to leave consumers with that false impression. Various lenders use various scores. Scores are not the final word in a lending decision. In previous testimony, one lender said, "We use external credit scores and scores developed internally based on our own lending experience." 
Further, all scores our members disclosed are production scores used by real lenders. In the end, consumers should understand that the data in their credit report is the one constant. Every lender is going to use these data to make a lending decision regardless of the score used. Some have also suggested that nationwide consumer credit reporting agencies should provide consumers with scores free of charge. We do not agree. A consumer pays a fee to have an appraiser assess the value of his or her home. Consumers will pay for a software program to produce a tax filing. No one is suggesting these services be offered for free. 
Congress, in enacting the FACT Act, recognized the difference between giving consumers free access to their credit report disclosure and giving them access to scores at a reasonable fee. This same Congress recognized that it could be beneficial for consumers to have access to the score used by a lender in a given transaction and required a score disclosure with all mortgage loans. 
Further, as a result of the newly finalized FACT Act risk-based pricing notice rule, consumers will now have an opportunity to see if the score used by the lender for any type of loan. This expansion of the credit score disclosure by a lender is a positive result for consumers. It is our view that there is no need to create new score disclosure requirements. Consumers have clearly benefited from their right to free credit file disclosures. Consumers have benefited from the use of scores by lenders which ensures fairness and lowers prices. Consumers have benefited from the extensive choices of access they have in the marketplace today. 
Mr. Chairman, we thank you for this opportunity to testify and I look forward to answering your questions. 
Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
Thank you so much. We will have a second panel with witnesses from the Federal Reserve Board and the Federal Trade Commission. We will now hear from Mr. Tom Quinn for FICO. Please, Mr. Quinn, you're recognized for five minutes. 
Mr. Tom Quinn:
Thank you. Mr. Chairman and Members of this Subcommittee, my name is Tom Quinn. I am Vice President in the Scores Division of FICO, formerly Fair Isaac Corporation responsible for the management and delivery of the company's global scoring products and services. Thank you for the opportunity to testify before you today on this important topic. FICO is the leading provider of analytics and decision management technology. 

Though we offer a wide array of market leading products and services, our company brand remains most closely tied to the FICO score which was first introduced in 1989. Today, FICO scores are the most widely used credit bureau risk score in the world powering over ten billion credit decisions. In the context of today's hearing, we hope it is clear that FICO is a developer of credit scoring models. We are not a credit bureau and we are not in the business of compiling consumer credit reports. 

Our analytic scientists develop FICO credit scoring models in the form of mathematical formulas called algorithms. These algorithms are housed at each of the three credit bureau repositories. When a lender requests a FICO score, the credit bureau feeds the consumer credit report information into the algorithm, the score is generated, and then output to the lender for decisioning. While my written testimony goes into greater detail, I wanted to highlight a few key areas related to the FICO score. The FICO score is a three-digit number ranging from 300 to 850. The score rank orders consumers by the likelihood that they will become serious delinquent, meaning 90 days past due or greater in the next 24 months on credit obligations. The higher the score, the lower the risk. 


FICO scores are used by businesses across a range of industries to help assess a consumer’s credit worthiness. When a consumer applies for a car loan, a mortgage or a credit card, the lender may check the consumer’s FICO score to help determine if they’re going to approve or decline and what terms they may set with the loan such as pricing and credit line. However, FICO scores are usually only one of several key factors considered by lenders. Traditionally, responsible lenders use other information considered as the three C’s: credit worthiness, capacity to pay, and collateral. 


The FICO score addresses the first of those, credit worthiness. FICO scores are objective and data driven. Our analytic scientists study large representative national depersonalized samples of credit data from each of the credit reporting agencies to isolate and prioritize factors that consistently predict credit account performance. Those factors found to be most powerful and consistent in predicting credit performance both individually and in combination are from the basis of the complex mathematical algorithms that become the FICO scores. 


The FICO credit score is not static. It undergoes continuous innovation. FICO regularly studies credit bureau data samples to test the predictive value of the factors considered by the FICO score. Through empirical analysis of the data, FICO has consistently updated its algorithm resulting in a more predictive scoring model. In fact, our latest scoring model, FICO 08, which was referenced by Mr. Hendricks generates the most predictive FICO score to date. 


At FICO, we understand and we appreciate the importance of an educated consumer. As a result, we’ve demonstrated a strong commitment to providing freely accessible educational resources related to credit scores and credit related topics. On our myFICO.com website, you can not only purchase your FICO score for a modest fee, but you can also gain access to a wealth of credit information about how credit works in addition to a detailed explanation of how your FICO scores are derived and a program the helps consumers determine whether they qualify for government-sponsored mortgage relief. 


Also, we supported the creation of an active online consumer forum in which a community of 340,000 registered users gather online to discuss credit scoring topics and to help each other understand what they can do to improve their FICO scores over time. In addition to our web presence, FICO staff work with a wide range of government officials and consumer nonprofit agencies and groups, providing education and training related to credit scoring topics and matters. All of this is consistent with our long held commitment in empowering consumers to manage their credit health. 


Credit scores are not static. They are constantly changing based on consumer credit behavior. There are no shortcuts to rapidly raising a low score but smart practices like consistently paying bills on time, keeping your credit balances low, and only applying for credit when needed will help to lift your score over time. Consumers who commit themselves to healthy credit habits and sound financial management practices are likely to see their credit scores improve over time. 


I appreciate the opportunity to testify for you today. Thank you.

Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
You’re very, very welcome. And now we have Mr. Barrett Burns, President and CEO of VantageScores Solutions. You’re recognized for five minutes, sir. 

Mr. Barrett Burns:
Good afternoon. My name is Barrett Burns. I am the President and CEO of VantageScores Solutions. Thank you for the opportunity to testify to today’s hearing. 


VantageScores Solutions is a joint venture of the three credit bureaus: Equifax, Experian, and TransUnion. We were formed in 2006 to offer choice and competition in the credit score marketplace by providing a highly predictive credit score based on the latest analytic methodologies. Each of the bureaus devoted their top scientists and analytic leaders to the development of our algorithm. Armed with a deep understanding of consumer risk modeling and their respective bureau’s database design, team members spent several months building a new consumer credit score from the ground-up. 


Fifteen million anonymous consumer files served as the basis for development and testing of the new model. Innovative approaches in the model’s development included advanced segmentation techniques that provide more score cards than many traditional models including separate segmentation cards for a full file and thin file consumers. 


Our algorithm rank orders consumers on the likelihood of becoming 90 days or more past due on a credit obligation based on many consumer behaviors and factors grouped into the following six buckets which approximate these ratings: payment history of 32%, utilization of 23%, current balances of 15%, depth of credit at 13%, recent credit of 10%, and available credit of 7%. Additionally, medical debt, when identified as a medical debt on a credit file is excluded from the algorithm. 


The VantageScore scale ranges from 501 to 990. The higher a consumer score the less probable the likelihood of becoming 90 days or more past due. The score range approximates the academic rating scale familiar to most consumers. So in addition to receiving their numerical score with VantageScore, the consumers also get the letter grade that corresponds to the three-digit score. For example, a score between 900 and 990 is an A, between 800 and 899 is a B, and so forth.


VantageScore’s algorithm is unique. We use a single algorithm across the three bureaus and we use a new modeling approach that looks differently and more deeply into consumer behaviors allowing it to score many individuals who would otherwise not be able to obtain a score. VantageScore has identified three categories of consumers that face difficulties obtaining mainstream credit because they’re unable to obtain a score. 


First, our thin file consumers who have fewer than three accounts in their credit file. Between 35 and 50 million adults in the United States or about 18% to 25% of the adult population may be considered thin file and therefore often underserved. Second, infrequent credit users who may not be eligible for a score because there has not been any new activity on a credit account for six months. And third, new entrants who are just establishing credit relationships have not had a credit open for more than the six months required by some traditional scoring models. VantageScore scores new entrants and reaches back deeper into an infrequent credit user’s history assisting millions more to obtain sustainable credit.


A comparison of VantageScore with a traditional CRC scoring model that used a random sample, mortgage customers saw an overall increase in scored consumers with VantageScore of 8% or approximately 10 million consumers. Additionally, 2.5 million consumers from the study were more accurately identified as higher credit quality than subprime. 


We would like to commend Congressman Green for authoring the provision under the “Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008” directing the Department of Housing and Urban Development to undertake a pilot program establishing an automated process to determine the creditworthiness of borrowers with insufficient credit histories. 


Credit scores offer a uniform, non-judgmental mechanism that can be quickly deployed system-wide within an institution to respond to changing credit conditions. Although we believe that credit scores should be part of any decision process for credit approval, they should not be the sole criterion. Approving a large loan without also verifying other critical information needed to assess a consumer’s ability to repay the loan is simply not prudent. Risk is increased across all areas of the credit spectrum. 


VantageScore performs an annual revalidation to test the continued performance of our model. Our most recent revalidation demonstrated that VantageScore continues to rank order effectively and is capturing the increased risk present in this environment. This allows lenders to understand the change in risk present to their portfolios from systemic shifts and adjust their business strategies to reflect that change. So even though the performance of our score remains highly predictive under these stressful economic conditions, the conditions may require a shift in lender standards.


Thank you for the opportunity to contribute to this important discussion. I hope the information I have shared is beneficial to the Subcommittee and I would be pleased to answer any questions you might have and to work with the members on scoring issues in the future.
Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
Thank you so much. And last, we have Ms. Anne P. Fortney, a partner at Hudson Cook. Please for five minutes, you’re recognized.

Ms. Anne Fortney:
Thank you. Good afternoon. I’m Anne Fortney. I’m a partner in the Washington D.C. office of the Hudson Cook law firm. I appreciate the opportunity to appear before you today. I have almost 35 years experience in the consumer financial services field including service as associate director for credit practices at the Federal Trade Commission. I have also worked as in‑house counsel at a consumer credit card issuer. Currently, in addition to counseling clients, I sometimes serve as a consultant and an expert witness in litigation.


My experience in credit scoring is described in my written statement. Based on my experience, I believe that credit scoring is a very effective tool that ensures objective credit underwriting decisions. Credit scoring systems eliminate the potential biases, illegal or even benign, that may exist in judgmental credit underwriting systems. They ensure that each consumer will be evaluated only according to attributes that are facially neutral and they can facilitate fair lending compliance. 


Ironically, it is a fact that credit scoring focuses only on objective factors that has engendered criticism. For example, some complain that credit scores may reflect circumstances beyond a consumer’s control such as a natural disaster. These kinds of events, however, are not dissimilar to other uncontrollable events that historically have been associated with payment default such as job loss or illness. 

Regardless of a consumer’s personal control over events leading to default, credit underwriting systems necessarily focus on default when that is the risk they evaluate. If characteristics such as payment histories or credit limits in credit scoring models were eliminated or restricted regardless of their predictive value, the models would necessarily be less predictive. Less predictive credit scoring models would impair creditors’ ability to make sound underwriting credit decisions or to price according to risk. The inevitable result would be less credit availability, at higher prices or at prices where good credit risks subsidize the higher credit risks – and none of those results would be more fair than the present systems. It is neither efficient nor fair to focus on individual circumstances in an underwriting system that is designed to predict risk for an entire population. 

Some have complained that credit scoring models may penalize consumers who are conservative in their use of credit or who, because of age or other circumstances, may have limited credit histories. If this allegation is true, the obvious solution is to increase the amount of information available for credit score developers. Without credit histories and similar empirical information, creditors are unable to assess the relative risk of a consumer’s default. By analogy, a 16-year-old has a perfect driving record when she obtains her first driver’s permit. 

Despite the demonstrated value of credit scoring, there continued to be anecdotal reports regarding its accuracy. I believe these reports are based on a misunderstanding of how credit scoring works. They also overlook the fact that credit score user have a vested interest in making these models work. Credit scoring models are continually reevaluated and updated. Credit score developers and users of credit scores are in the best position to evaluate the accuracy and predictability of credit scores because of their impact on the bottom line. Credit scoring has also been criticized for an adverse impact on minorities and other protected groups. However, studies by the Federal Reserve Board and the Federal Trade Commission found that these systems are not proxies for prohibited factors. 


Characteristics that correlate to lower credit scores may also correlate to race, ethnicity, and other protected characteristics. This phenomenon is reflected in credit underwriting in general. The solution is to increase educational and employment opportunities and outreach for underserved populations and to provide for alternative sources of data that may predict creditworthiness, such as rent, utility, and telecom payments. 

I believe many concerns about credit scoring can be attributed to a lack of understanding about the factors applied in credit scoring. These concerns can be addressed through the implementation of new notices such as the risk-based pricing notice and also increased education and awareness of the process. Based on my experience at the FTC, I firmly believe that consumer education plays a large role in consumers’ ability to protect themselves and secure their financial futures. At the same time, I do not believe providers of credit scores should be required to give away their product for free. 

Proponents of this view share a fundamental misunderstanding with those that criticize the educational credit scores available on various websites. They persist in the mistaken belief that there is only one credit score and only one provider of that score. In fact, there are many credit scores provided by many different sources. Moreover, it would be fundamentally unfair to require any credit score provider to give away its product. This is especially true because the educational materials available through the FTC and online provide adequate instruction for consumers. 

Thank you for the opportunity to testify. I’d be glad to answer your questions.

Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
Thank you so much for your testimony. One of the most notorious examples of misleading advertisement are the ads of FreeCreditReport.com run by Experian. This site does not provide free credit reports. The FTC has taken a number of steps to address this and will testify about those actions in the second panel. But I wanted to show and ad that the FTC produced in its attempt to counteract such misleading ads and educate consumers about their right to a truly free credit report through the official website AnnualCreditReport.com where people should go get free – I went there. It was free. It didn’t cost me anything.


The FTC doesn’t have the budget to run this ad on TV though, but let’s show the FTC ad.

[Advertisement plays]

Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
That’s actually a free credit report that you can get. Now I just have to say for the record, I really did enjoy the commercials. They were very well produced. And it kind of reminds me of being – I mean I always seem to get the second hand stuff right and have the cool phone, cool car. I won’t talk about not getting the date I want to get because ultimately I got her. So, you know, I really like the commercials. I thought they were well produced.


But the fact is, think about it. The FTC took the time to produce this commercial. Now I know there are those that I have stated that we’re trying to muzzle Corporate America their free speech. They had all the money in the world to run those deceptive ads and it shows you what we need to do because when was the last time you saw the government actually produced an ad to counteract an ad that was put up out there by Corporate America. Now they don’t have the money to run the ad so the parity. So I thought we should put that just to start our conversation here today about -- and those cute little ads that are run by Experian. But the FTC said they're so false they even ran up parity on their own commercial.


Let me start by asking some questions and I want to ask Mr. Evan Hendricks. In your testimony, you sounded an alarm on what are called shadowy operations of little known database of customers called the National Consumer Telecom & Utilities Exchange run with the help of Equifax, used by several major utilities and telecom companies to secretly screen prospective consumer applications in order to reject applications or charge higher deposits on non-paying customers. 


In essence, your description of this practice makes it sound like almost a black water of credit reporting. A secretive company that works hard to maintain its secrecy and may undercover be evading the application of relevant laws that affect many unsuspecting people that don’t even know its existence. Do consumers know the negative repercussions that they face with their late payments are sent to the agency and do they have a way appeal the negative information in their file?

Mr. Evan Hendricks:
Well when I first did the story in October, I couldn’t get any of those questions answered. I also wanted to know what utilities were members of it so we could maybe check up to see what was happening. But since that story was run, I was pointed to their website this morning to show that they now have some contact information for consumers to order their reports from the database and they do say their communications said that they are subject to the Fair Credit Reporting Act. Again they didn’t tell me that when I first asked them in October that ...

Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
Sorry. Did they report all the information or just the negative information?

Mr. Evan Hendricks:
Well, I think it’s mainly negative. But we don’t know because we don’t have any power to audit and really find out what they do. But clearly it’s a situation where consumers can get denied or charged a higher deposit for the utilities based on…

Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
Let me just ask you something. Let’s say, there was negative information and I was charged a higher rate for my utilities or a higher deposit. Do I get a note in the mail? Let’s say, I was denied a credit card or a mortgage, I can get something that says here’s what information was used to deny this creditworthiness. Do we get that when this happens?

Mr. Evan Hendricks:
Under the law you’re supposed to get it. But they wouldn’t answer whether it was given to consumers. So I’m concerned that it’s not…

Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
We have a representative maybe we’ll be able to get an answer from them. Did they?

Mr. Evan Hendricks:
Yeah. I mean this is why sunshine is the best disinfectant.

Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
I agree and so my time expired. Do I have like five seconds? My time is expiring. We won’t take anymore time. Let's see if Mr. Hensarling can get his five minutes in because we will be having a vote pretty soon.


Mr. Hensarling, you’re recognized for five minutes.

Mr. Jeb Hensarling:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It was a cute ad. I guess you two have nothing to worry about, but it was a cute ad. 


I frankly don’t know the facts dealing with FreeCreditReport.com. My understanding is that certainly the Federal Trade Commission has the opportunity to issue cease-and-desist orders. I don’t know if they have, so I don’t know if the facts are still being adjudicated or not.


I know Mr. Chairman you said that unfortunately the FTC didn’t have sufficient funds to run the ad. Perhaps had the House not passed on Sunday evening the $2.3 trillion takeover of our healthcare system bill and instead replaced it with something that would make healthcare affordable and portable and maintain a high quality, maybe there would have been a few extra dollars to run that ad, but unfortunately the President signed the legislation, so there goes the cute ad. 


There's a lot of different – you know, we continue to study all the different causes of the economic turmoil that we have. In our economy today, most people would point to the fact of all the No Doc, Low Doc loans that took place in the residential mortgage market. It’s certainly the contributing factor, certainly one of the most significant contributing factors.


And I’m just curious about a parallel here because again I seem to see the prevailing winds from Congress trying to make credit files more thin, but somehow let lenders have less information. And when I see that applied to residential real estate, what I see is great economic turmoil and human misery and it seems to me, if anything, we wouldn’t want to be pushing in the opposite direction of having more information about credit decisions as opposed to less. I don’t know. Perhaps I guess it’s the next panel that might have professional economist. But if anybody cares to jump in on that one, I’d be glad to hear an opinion on the matter. Mr. Pratt, you seem to be the first one reaching for the button.

Mr. Stuart Pratt:
You know there are two things we should think about when we think about the kind of risk data. A credit report isn’t just a point in time story of what I did most recently. And I think one of the reasons we feel so strongly about preserving the entirety of the credit report history is that it sets into context both the good that we’ve done and also maybe the difficult experiences that we’ve had at any given time. 


Lenders want to do business with consumers. Lenders want a complete picture of the possible risk. Lenders don’t like saying no. Lenders will look I suspect even at this period of our recession, even at the struggles that many consumers have had and they’re going to see that in the context of a credit report where you may have a consumer who historically has done exceptionally well. 


That’s the key to the credit report. The credit report is not just a snapshot of some immediate missed payment, but it’s about what happened over my lifetime of managing credit. 


Now with regard to negative information, negative information does come off the file after a period of time. It’s also important to know that lenders look at negative information differently over time. An immediate incident is probably considered to be more risky for a lender. But a lender who has – if you’re looking at a six-year-old event it’s not the same and a lender wants to do business with you. So that’s really important in terms of content.

Mr. Jeb Hensarling:
Mr. Pratt, on the same line of questioning, one of the most common phrases we heard applied to what was going on in the residential real estate market, was predatory lending. I myself have concluded yes, there is a lot of predatory lending going on. I’ve also concluded there’s a lot of predatory borrowing going on. But again predatory lending to some extent not lending money to people who can’t afford to pay it back, if we have congressionally mandated thinner credit files, is there going to be a greater probability of loaning money to people who can’t afford to pay it back; yes or no?

Mr. Stuart Pratt:
Our view is you’ve got to have all the data on the table in order to ensure safe and sound lending decisions and also fair lending decisions. But again, for all of us who know that we’re just emerging, just struggling to get out of a deep, deep recession, we know that there are going to be some consumers who will have a credit report that it isn’t as perfect as it once was. But it is a history, Mr...   

Mr. Jeb Hensarling:
Mr. Pratt, see my time is starting to run out. You used the term fairness. I want to go to you Ms. Fortney. I think you said that the credit scoring models we have is I think you used the phrase, helps eliminate bias that or maybe paraphrasing that that the on the spot individual judgment would otherwise interject that bias into the system. Could you elaborate a little bit on what you mean by that?

Ms. Anne Fortney:
Oh. Yes.

Mr. Jeb Hensarling:
Apparently no. [Laughs]

Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
…setting down Corporate America’s freedom of speech. I would never allow the one minority witness we have here. Please give your answer...

Mr. Dennis Moore:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. You listened well.

Ms. Anne Fortney:
Yes. I appreciate the opportunity. I’m sorry. I thought I had… Try it again. Okay. Yes, I really appreciate the opportunity.


There are two aspects of this. As I said I have been practicing for many years and I saw what the world was like before credit scoring. It was not as efficient and there were even benign biases that made the system less efficient when you had credit managers trying to draw on their imperfect memories and also with their comparisons of how is this applicant compared to others. 


The other thing I know from my time at the Federal Trade Commission is that credit scoring has really facilitated law enforcement and compliance. That if you look at the cases that have been brought by the Federal Trade Commission and by the Civil Rights Division of the Justice Department in the last 30 years, they have not involved credit scoring. They have involved situations of what is called discretionary pricing by and large.

Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
Ms. Fortney, thank you so much. We just got a bell. But we’ve got the next 10 minutes, maybe we’ll take questions on each side and then we’ll recess. Please, Mr. Moore is recognized for five minutes

Mr. Dennis Moore:
Thank you Mr. Chairman. Someone proposed mandated and free credit scores be given to consumers every year. As an alternative, I would like at something we did and draft in the FACT Act a few years ago. That law requires under certain circumstances a credit score be used by a lender for a loan application, a credit score used by lender for a loan application be provided directly to the applicant. So instead of a mandatory free annual credit score, what if we required credit scores to be provided to the borrower in every application where a credit score is used. 


The credit bureau already provides the information to the borrower so I don’t believe it would be an additional burden on them. The information is specifically derived from the borrower’s credit history so they should have the right to see it regardless if they’re application is approved or not. It could also help protect against lenders unfairly discriminated against loan applicants, and empower our consumers to better monitor their credit score and credit history. Any reaction by Mr. Pratt? Do you have any reactions, sir?

Mr. Stuart Pratt:
My first reaction is that the FACT Act. The same FACT Act did just this year bring to the floor a new notice that I think many lenders will be delivering. In other words a risk-based pricing notice, one of the options for complying with the risk-based pricing notice rule is for a lender to deliver to the consumer a credit score disclosure with every application that is made.


So I think it’s very likely by the end of this year, you will see an enormous increase in the number of score disclosures where you actually see an access between the lender who’s using the score and the consumer who made the application. And we’re going to see how consumers react to that. We’re going to see what consumers learn from that. And I really think that’s the next step in this evolution of connecting consumers with scores and with data.

Mr. Dennis Moore:
Very good. Mr. Burns any comments sir?

Mr. Barrett Burns:
I have nothing to add. Thank you.

Mr. Dennis Moore:
All right. Any other panel members wish to add to that? Respond? Yes, Mr Hendricks.

Mr. Evan Hendricks:
Thank you, Congressman Moore. I think it would still advance educational purposes the fair credit reporting act if we put in a free score requirement. And also make it sure it’s a score that’s used by lenders. That would help people tie their information in their credit report to what does it mean in terms of the credit score. 


There was one credit card company, Providian that opened a service for its card members and this I thought was a nice market response because they are buying the credit score. A true credit score every month that evaluated the credit card holders. And what they did is they made it so their customers could access the credit score they were buying. And that was an alternative that made it so you could actually get access to a free real credit score.

Mr. Dennis Moore:
Very good. Second last question, in our modern society with our use of the internet and online banking and shopping, one unfortunate reality is the increased identity theft and how it could harm a responsible consumer’s credit score. As it relates to credit scores being damaged by those who steal another’s identity and credit information, where do you think do we stand now on identity theft and what steps can our government take to ensure that those who are victims of identity theft have their credit scores and credit history repaired quickly? Any of you have comments on that? Mr. Pratt?

Mr. Stuart Pratt:
Well I think a couple of things on the FACT Act have been effective. For example, the FACT Act empowered all of us as consumers to obtain an identity theft report and in doing that, I can go to my lender and I can ask them to stop reporting data. I can go to my lender and I can get access to original application data in order to be more proactive in investigating the crime against me myself. I can go to the credit bureau and ask them to remove data that was a result of the fraud. 

So I think the remedial power that I have under the FCR were great ideas then. They’re good ideas now. I think they’re workable in the marketplace. If there is one challenge it continues to be obtaining an identity theft report in order to do those things and some law enforcement agencies may or may not be able to give access to one.

Mr. Dennis Moore:
Very Good. Mr. Hendricks, you have a comment, sir?
Mr. Evan Hendricks:
Yeah. The FACT Act had great advantages and good advances for consumer protection. One other idea though is I like the idea of having consumers plugged into their own information. And one of the things that makes that possible is the monitoring the services that all of these companies offer. 


Now in the old days before we allowed for a free credit report, the Federal law capped the price of a credit report at $8. And so I’m in favor of exploring the idea of capping the price of credit monitoring to encourage more people to take advantage of it. I think it would be a win-win ‘cause you’ll get more volume of people using it when you lower the price and it’d bring more people plug in their own report.

Mr. Dennis Moore:
Thank you, Mr. Hendricks. Mr. Chairman I yield back to you the balance of my time.

Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
Thank you so much. You know I try not to be thin skinned here, but I just feel personally kind of attacked that I would be accused of setting down the free speech. I mean it’s a constitutional thing, the basis of our democracy, of Corporate America.


I just wanted to let everyone know, we in the majority set up these hearings. We invite the witnesses and I just hope that everybody to please take note that we did  have Mr. Hendricks here for the consumer and then representing Corporate America is one, two, three, four, five, six, seven. Come on, cut the Democrats a break here. That’s seven Corporate American representatives…

Mr. Jeb Hanserling:
Last time, it has corporations.

Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
Yeah. [Laughs] And one from the other side to me. He even wants to be. So with that we’re going to allow. Yes? Yeah. We’re going to get Mr. Michaud in for his five minutes and then we’re going to recess after Mr. Michael Michaud's five minutes. Mr. Michael Michaud you’re recognized for five minutes.

Mr. Michael Michaud:
Thank you Mr. Chairman. I would like to explore some of the methods that some institutions use as far as coming up with approval ratings. I think for instance if it has written policy but there’s a policy that says that they are to disregard medical in some of their approval processes. Yet when you get a score then the score reflects any past due medical bills. Are there customers that have such a relationship with a credit score company or a credit report company where they could say to them, I would like to have the credit score of this person if you do not take a certain debt into consideration? Are any of the programs that customized where a customer could find that information out or are the reports and the scores just given across the board?

Mr. Chet Wiermanski:
At TransUnion we do not include medical debt in the calculation of the score. That’s in our generic products. When developing customized solutions as you’re describing, it’s up to the costumer where they may want certain data elements excluded from a model development process. And in those situations the information would be excluded and the models would be engineered without that data made available to it.

Mr. Michael Michaud:
So, each customer can decide – I guess you would have to be a very large customer?

Mr. Chet Wiermansk:
Not necessarily. We service customers from several hundred member credit unions to the very large lenders. But that’s where I would say the art of developing credit scores come in. It’s both an art and a science. And it’s up to the outcome that we’re trying to model and the business objectives of that institution that when we create the credit characteristics that feed into the modeling process, that we take those types of things into consideration.

Mr. Evan Hendricks:
Yes. Thank you. And these gentlemen will correct me if I’m wrong, but I think the most widely used credit scores are the FICO models from the 1990s. And they do allow a medical collection to really damage your score. So if that -- unless you didn’t pay you know about the co-pay and sometimes there’s a $48 on your credit score. If it’s something that just happened in the most recent months, it can drag down a score dramatically and really send you tail spinning down to not be eligible for the credit. So it’s a big problem now.


My also understanding is that the modern version of the FICO 08, the model that excludes medical debts under $100 and I think Mr. Burns talked about trying to exclude medical debts in the VantageScore as well. So medical debt is a big problem and unfairly hurts consumers. And if like I said, I recommended the Fannie would move toward models like FICO 08 as a standard then that would help address this problem without even passing legislation.
Mr. Michael Michaud:
Well one of the big concerns that I’ve had for the last two years is that it appears that since we’re going to have a record number of foreclosures in the United States in history and certainly a record number of late payments. And where we have numerous government programs that I fear lead people to believe that it’s okay to be late, later, and latest on your payments, that we are creating an entire generation of subprime borrowers that we will experience problems with for the next 20 years. 


I think many businesses are struggling with how to properly rate their scores and their credit reports. And I think in the future, you may have lenders and people that are wanting to extend credit will say, we want to exclude a late payment, 60 days or less and really customize it. And to me this is one of the big looming problems we have in the recovery in our economy coming back. And that’s a common problem. Yes sir?

Mr. Barrett Burns:
If I may I think you make a great point and that’s the difference between a credit score and credit criteria. A credit score needs to be very objective, however, the credit criteria of a lender can decide to exclude that situation for example in their underwriting criteria.

Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
The gentleman has expired. We’re going to recess for about 45 minutes. We have a series of votes. It seems that I’ve been informed that’s about how long it’s going to take. We’re going to reconvene and finish with this panel. We’re going to allow the other members that are here to ask you questions in 45 minutes. 


We thank you for your testimony thus far. We ask you to stick around we’ve got some more questions for you and then we’ll go to the second panel. Thank you so much. The meeting is recessed until we get back about four o’clock. Thanks.

Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
I thank everyone for reconvening this hearing, the Subcommittee, and we're going to go on the five-minute rule. And next, we have Mr. Sherman from California for five minutes. You're recognized, sir.

Mr. Brad Sherman:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Let me ask Mr. Stan. I've seen your ‑ I've seen these commercials, FreeCreditReport.com, clever commercials. But apparently, you got to pay a fee to get it free, which is like a restaurant saying, you know, free dinner but you got to pay to walk into the restaurant. Is it enough to just have a disclaimer on it or should we prohibit a commercial that says orally it's free if it's only free to those who pay money?

Mr. Stan Oliai:
You know, I come from the decision analytics business. I'm actually an almost 17-year practitioner of credit scoring and that's not a part of the business that I come from or represent. Perhaps by way of follow-up, I could talk to my colleagues and provide them with the score.

Mr. Brad Sherman:
Well, is it free if you have to pay money for it? You probably, you know, you're dealing with financial issues all the time. Is $14.95 free?

Mr. Stan Oliai:
It doesn't sound free to me but I personally don't pay for it.

Mr. Brad Sherman:
Okay. Mr. Hendricks, has the FTC adequately cleaned up the freecreditreport.com ad by saying, "Well, you can keep the commercial and just put something eligible down at the bottom that tells people it's not free?"

Mr. Evan Hendricks:
No. I mean, I'd like to see the use of the word "free." I like plain language so I like freedom really true, I mean, free. But the FTC has tightened up the rules on those type of ads and Congress passed protections recently, which is also going to help us end this kind of nonsense. But it has been very confusing for consumers and I'm hoping these days are behind us.

Mr. Brad Sherman:
Mr. Quinn, we all like our free credit reports once a year but nobody seems to care very much about my credit report. They just care about my FICO score. Can I get a free FICO score once a year?

Mr. Tom Quinn:
Fair Isaac does have programs that we're orchestrating with lenders. It's called Score View where the lender who pulls the score, the FICO score for you, send an account review in decision processes.

Mr. Brad Sherman:
Uh-huh.

Mr. Tom Quinn:
And also disclose that score as a secondary use to the consumer.

Mr. Brad Sherman:
I see. But what if I want to know my FICO score before I start applying for a loan, so I know whether to apply for the good ones or the bad ones or even know whether to go shopping for a good house or a bad house? How do I get my free FICO score?

Mr. Tom Quinn:
Today, either it's the Score View or if you apply for mortgages as part of the fact it's for disclosure.

Mr. Brad Sherman:
Okay. Let's say I want to know what my FICO score is before I apply for a loan, what does it cost me to find out?

Mr. Tom Quinn:
It costs $15.95.

Mr. Brad Sherman:
$15.95. At least you don't have ads that say freeficoscore.com and then charge me $15.95.

Mr. Tom Quinn:
No.

Mr. Brad Sherman:
I yield back. I can vent for a while.

Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
Mr. Paulsen of Minnesota. You're recognized for five minutes.

Mr. Erik Paulsen:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. You know, I have some concerns about what may happen. We may have gone over some of this in the testimony, but what can happen if we should start preventing certain types of information being allowed as part of the credit score computation? For example, if I have a score of 650 and then we pass legislation banning certain information from being used, this would arguably cost those people who had lower scores to now have a higher score in essence. That's the intent of some of the legislation that's out there, but my score still will remain at 650, and at the end of the day, what does that mean for me as an individual? Will 650 no longer be as good as it once was in the past? I mean, does that mean it's going to be now harder for me to get credit? And Mr. Quinn, maybe you can kind of comment on that potentially or…

Mr. Tom Quinn:
Sure. So, if information is required to be suppressed from the score calculation and it causes the score to be inflated artificially from what it would be if that information were considered, then a lender would look at the score in their decision process and say, "I'm used to a 650 equating to potentially let's say a 2% bad rate." If the score now is inflated, they'll have to potentially change their cutoff to accommodate for the inflation of the score driven by the suppression of certain data elements coming into the score calculation.

Mr. Erik Paulsen:
So then, just along those same lines, what would be the impact on predictability of credit scores if Congress mandated that certain data elements or trade lines be masked?

Mr. Tom Quinn:
We would have to do analysis to understand what the exact impact is depending on what information is being suppressed. But what we have seen through our data analysis is that, you know, more information provides for a more robust score, and if you start to take information out of the data to be included in the score, it will usually result in a loss of predicted power in the model.

Mr. Erik Paulsen:
Okay. And I want to ‑ can you talk just a little bit about the intellectual property that's embedded within a credit score?

Mr. Tom Quinn:
Sure. So, FICO scores had been around since 1989, so that's over 20 years, and through that 20-year time period, we've learned a lot about credit scoring and how to get the most out of the bureau data from a predictive perspective. However, from our perspective, the fundamental factors that drive the score calculation are very transparent. So, it's consumers who pay their bills on time, who kept their debt levels reasonably low, who only seek credit when they need credit, are going to generally result in a more favorable score. And so, the fundamental practices of good credit behavior are pretty transparent, but that's been a mask through 25 years of model development experience.

Mr. Barrett Burns:
And if I may add to that, our intellectual property also includes a technique that minimizes the inconsistency between the bureau because we only had one algorithm between the bureaus so that no intellectual property differentiate in our model.

Mr. Erik Paulsen:
Okay. Ms. Hart, can you ‑ do you have anything to add or follow up on that line of…

Ms. Myra K. Hart:
Sure. I guess I would like to say that we also have about 20 years of looking at our data and building generic scores and working with customers to build custom models for their business purposes. And we like to feel that, you know, we've done a great job of mining our data, identifying those characteristics that very specifically are predictive of risk in a particular customer application


But just to add to what Tom Quinn said, the factors really that go into these credit scores are very transparent to consumers. They're very basic. I would say very easy to understand. What we're all doing is tweaking a little bit the attributes, tweaking a little bit the weights that are applied to those attributes to help the models be more predictive for a particular business need. But generally, it should be very clear to consumers that they understand their credit report and how they're managing their credit overall. It should be clear to them the things that, you know, generally make their scores higher or lower relative to other scores.

Mr. Erik Paulsen:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I yield back.

Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
Mr. Perlmutter, please, Colorado. You're recognized for five minutes.

Mr. Ed Perlmutter:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and I apologize I've been bouncing back and forth among the number of different committees. My question is I do this thing called "Government at the Grocery." Every other Saturday, we set up a congressional office in a different grocery store in my district. And a week ago Saturday, a woman came up, said she had two credit cards in the course of the last six months, eight months. I don't know if any of you have experienced, but many Americans have experienced their credit card rates going up even though, you know, they've been paying on time and all that sort of stuff. So, she ‑ they closed their credit card. They closed their credit card. Then they find out that their credit score has dropped because they closed their credit cards because they didn't want to pay higher rates. They were just done. Can somebody explain how that happens?

Mr. Tom Quinn:
Sure. When you say, "They closed it," meaning the consumer, not the company.

Mr. Ed Perlmutter:
The consumer closed the credit card.

Mr. Tom Quinn:
Sure.

Mr. Ed Perlmutter:
Because their rates had been jacked up.

Mr. Tom Quinn:
Okay. So the way that can happen is in the credit scoring model, at least with FICO scores, we don't have any characteristics that are looking just at available credit in isolation, so there would be no points lost because of that. However, we do look at what's called the utilization calculation. So, using a hypothetical example, if a consumer had two credit cards and they had $10,000 available to them as credit and $5000 balance, the 5000 divided by the 10,000 is a 50% utilization calculation, and this data shows us that consumers that carry higher utilization patterns are higher risk. So, if the consumer in your situation closed down one of those credit cards, and now let's say, that had a line of $5000, their utilization now looks at 5000 divided by 5000, which makes it 100%. And so then, that ends up potentially costing them points on their credit score because of that action.

Mr. Ed Perlmutter:
And I…

Mr. Evan Hendricks:
And…

Mr. Ed Perlmutter:
And I ‑ go ahead.

Mr. Evan Hendricks:
Oh, thank you. Sorry I interrupted. Also, there's a second category I got dinged in. First of all, what Mr. Quinn is talking about is each credit card is scored one at a time and then they're scored collectively. But the other category is your length of credit history. And so, if you close a credit card, then you can lose credit for how long you've had that credit card, which is 15% of your score.

Mr. Ed Perlmutter:
So, these people had had these credit cards a long time, so then they closed them, then that all of a sudden, the length of time that they had the credit card no longer go to their benefits. So, did anybody in your algorithms and your computations and your calculations, and I understand it's all proprietary and I don't care about knowing the ins and outs of the thing, but, you know, part of what we've been dealing with in this Congress are credit card practices that in many ways were very sharp practices.


You know, double billing cycle is a whole variety of things and then so we take steps to try to deal with that, people will then face higher rates for whatever reason. You know, the credit card ‑ some of the credit card companies did that. And then, they face because they close and choose not to maintain that credit, then they lose points on their credit score so that if they want to go buy a house, they're going to pay that much more money in interest. Did anybody take any of this into consideration?

Mr. Barrett Burns:
If I may offer an opinion, the value of giving somebody credit for having a long history of a credit card or a mortgage or an auto loan is that it shows they've behaved well over that long period of time.

Mr. Ed Perlmutter:
Right.

Mr. Barrett Burns:
The other side of that coin is if they closed the account, they lose that history. So, our advice always is just don't use the credit card anymore and don't close your oldest accounts, because you should be given credit for behaving well over those years.

Mr. Evan Hendricks:
The trouble is that sometimes it's very counterintuitive. You seem responsible to close a credit card that you're paying through the nose for, but from a credit scoring point of view, it can ding you. So, it's that you have to know the inside baseball to really protect yourself. I think that puts kind of burden on the consumer.

Mr. Ed Perlmutter:
Right, you know, and I found it sort of counterintuitive. I was like, "Okay," you know. You said, "All right. You know, I've had my credit card. The 6% was wonderful. Now it's 16%. I don't need it anymore. I don't want it anymore. I'm done." But then all of a sudden, you get hammered over on the, you know, house borrowing side of this thing because your credit score is less. I just would ask all of you to take another look at that. I appreciate sort of the philosophy behind it, but there are more questions to be asked and to just immediately do it. And I don't know if it was you, Mr. Pratt, or it might have been Mr. Quinn say, "Well, it's not just a snapshot. We're looking at the long run." Well, all of a sudden, you're not looking at the long run. You're looking at the snapshots.

Mr. Stuart K. Pratt:
Well, it is a point in time, a snapshot of the history, but it is the history. It is not just the one.

Mr. Ed Perlmutter:
Unless you close it now.

Mr. Stuart K. Pratt:
I think you make a good point about closed accounts and then the history is no longer there. The counterintuitive part though is just like looking at a consumer who is 21 years old enter the marketplace, has a one year ‑ a credit card for a year and the same ‑ and maybe another consumer has literally the same credit profile but has been in the market for 25 years. You can make a better estimation of how I had done if I've been in the market for 25 years. That's all. So another reason is you're ‑ it may not be counterintuitive. It may be a little counterintuitive but there's a logic to it in terms of how that work even in the old style.

Mr. Ed Perlmutter:
All right. I thank the chairman and this panel.

Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
I want to get all the questions in. Mr. Campbell, you're recognized for five minutes, sir.

Mr. John Campbell:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and I got a couple of questions. First one is is there any difference between the scores that a lender is going to use to evaluate someone's credit and the score that is disclosed to a consumer whether they pay for it or not? And I'll direct the question first for Mr. Oliai just because you're from the constituent company. So, welcome. I'm glad to have you here. But the question is clearly for all of actually.

Mr. Stan Oliai:
Okay. I guess there are a couple of parts to that answer. There really is no score that fits every bill. There are many scores you've heard in some of the testimony prior to now. When we talk about educational scores, typically, we talk about those scores that have a lot of packaged material around them that say, "What are those elements that most positively influence your score? What are those elements that most negatively detract from your score?" And they're designed with the sole purpose of educating the consumer about credit management and kind of those actions or kind of those elements on the credit report that most influence a score.


The educational scores are much like scores that lenders use in underwriting. They move in the same direction. They're predictive of risk. They're based off ‑ the area of the most similarity is they're based off of the same credit bureau data. It's just the audience and the intent of the score is different. And so, it's not the score itself that makes the educational score special per se. It's more all of the material that goes with it and all that education that goes with it to educate the consumers on those elements that most influence the score.

Mr. John Campbell:
So let me understand. So there are different ‑ for just the lender now, they can request a different score because they want to weight something differently or how does that?

Mr. Stan Oliai:
Absolutely.

Mr. John Campbell:
Okay.

Mr. Stan Oliai:
There are a multitude of scores, both that we would call kind of in our nomenclature generic scores.

Mr. John Campbell:
Okay.

Mr. Stan Oliai:
That predict slightly different outcomes when we're looking at credit risk. Most lenders rely heavily on custom scores to make their underwriting decisions, so those scores that are custom-tuned to their prior lending experience.

Mr. John Campbell:
So what the consumer will get then, what you call educational is an addition. It's educational data that's basically a generic score. But a lender, because maybe it's a long-term or short-term loan or whatever, may have their own custom thing that they're getting that could be different.

Mr. Stan Oliai:
That's correct. A lender may use multiple scores for the same credit underwriting decision.

Mr. John Campbell:
Okay. All right, thank you. Mr. Pratt and Mr. Hendricks are both champing at the bit here. So, go ahead Mr. Pratt or whichever one of you.

Mr. Stuart K. Pratt:
It's really important that every ‑ I think our world view is that every time a consumer acquires a score, they're obviously more than likely getting a credit report at the same time. It's always educational, meaning because there is no one score, because a single lender could use different scores for different products, because a lender could take an external score and fold it into an internal underwriting decision, it's a mistaken assumption to think that we're going to able to one-to-one get a consumer's knowledge to the point where it knows exactly how bank number one is going to say yes or no and at what price, and then similarly bank number two and bank number three. So that's what we worry about with some of these ideas where you get into there must be some score that's definitively the only one that's going to tell me the whole truth, and there's no oracle.


But there are scores that tell me, and I think Ms. Hart and others have referenced it and in fact it has been in the testimonies I think of some of our score developers here at the table, what's important about my credit management? You know, have I paid my bills on time, how much credit do I have outstanding, and so on and so forth.

Mr. John Campbell:
Okay.

Mr. Stuart K. Pratt:
So that's really the core of what we do when we get a score. We learn about how lenders look at us and how they analyze us, and we learn a little bit about how to structure our financial management more effectively.

Mr. Evan Hendricks:
Okay. Let me ask your point of view from a consumer's point of view. The FICO score according to the numbers is used by 75% of the lenders. So when a consumer goes to myFICO.com and buys his FICO score, he knows that's a score that's used by lenders. When you go to TransUnion and buy your true credit score that's based on the TransUnion mode, that's not used by lenders. If you go to Experian or FreeCreditReport.com and buy your Plus score, that again is not used by lenders. The VantageScore is used by lenders but I'm not sure we have good data yet on how far it has penetrated the market.


So that's the kind of confusion. The problem is sometimes consumers will buy a knockout score and think it's a real score, and find out when they apply for a loan, they get a different score.

Mr. John Campbell:
Well, it sounds like, and I didn't know this that's why I asked the question, but there's ‑ it's that if the scores are kind of customized by the lender for whatever, there is no ‑ like you say, there is no the score. There is so ‑ so isn't only important, I guess that I'm just thinking out loud here that the consumer understand that? That, you know, even though your thing said you're 600, you could be something else if a lender weighs something different.

Mr. Evan Hendricks:
Right.

Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
Could we answer the gentleman's question?

Mr. Evan Hendricks:
Thank you. That's why I call forth that anybody who sells the score should also probably tell the consumer. Is it used by lenders at all, any lender, and is it used by a majority or some segment of vendors?

Mr. John Campbell:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
Mr. Green of Texas, you're recognized for five minutes.

Mr. Al Green:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank you witnesses for appearing. I'm pleased that I got here to hear that exchange because there are many consumers who are confused and who are of the opinion that if I take advantage of this offer to get my credit score by way of some entity that's offering it to me, I will have the credit score. And what you're saying is that it may be a credit score but not necessarily the credit score. Is that a fair statement?

Mr. Evan Hendricks:
Yes.

Mr. Al Green:
Does someone differ? I thought I saw your hand. By the way, this is not the line of questioning I intend to pursue but I think it's worthy of consideration.

Mr. Chet Wiermanski
Well, first, I'd like to correct the statement made by Mr. Hendricks. The scores that TransUnion makes available to consumers are used for hundreds of millions of credit decisions so they are not what people call a FAKO score. They are production ready, commercially made available scores. So, I wanted to clarify that. There are many different scores that are made available to our customers that are used for decisioning purposes and there isn't one score that is used. At TransUnion, we have ‑ for instance, we have 12 different versions of the FICO score that is made available that are different algorithms used for different purposes. So there isn't one FICO score. The only one score that I know of that exists out there is the one offered by VantageScore where it's the same algorithm across all three credit bureaus.

Mr. Al Green:
Well, thank you very much and thank you for that new term for my vocabulary. FAKO, is that what you said? FAKO score. Is that something that…

Mr. Chet Wiermanski
That's a term that I picked up the last time I testified.

Mr. Al Green:
Okay.

Mr. Tom Quinn:
Well, if I may say something. I work with FICO and over 90 of the top 100 lenders use FICO scores in their decisioning. As Mr. Hendricks indicated, 75% of the credit decisions are made with FICO scores. It is the predominant score. And as Mr. Wiermanski indicated, there are multiple versions of FICO, but the design blueprint and the underlying data parameters that drive the score are the same. So, from FICO's perspective, the consumer benefits most greatly from getting access to the score that lenders use, which in our position is FICO scores.

Mr. Al Green:
Thank you. Is there a different in opinion? I do see another ‑ all right, go right ahead, sir.

Mr. Stan Oliai:
Thank you. You know, when I hear the term FAKO score, it's something that I find personally insulting and motivating at the same time. I've been in this business working with Experian since '93 building these models and we do have widespread usage across and good penetration across both custom and generic models, so much like the other leading companies here on the panel. So, I would contend that there is no universal score. You've heard Mr. Wiermanski talk about 12 different versions. There's at least eight at Experian, not to mention all the Experian-developed scores that we've done in a proprietary fashion over the years.

Mr. Al Green:
All right, thank you very much. Let me move on to another area and I appreciate your comments. Alternative credit scoring. For those of you who do score, can you give me some intelligence on how this will impact you? There's a possibility that Hud may introduce alternative credit scoring. There are people who can afford to pay for a given item but they don't have what we call traditional credit. They pay light, gas, water, phone, but these things are not always scored. In fact, there's a good likelihood that they won't be scored. How will alternative credit scoring impact you? Yes, sir.

Mr. Barrett Burns:
Thank you. At VantageScore, alternative payments that are reported to the credit file are picked up by VantageScore and that's one reason we can score millions more than other people. So, it is recorded, it should be recorded, it's highly predictive, and we do use that data in our model calculation.

Mr. Al Green:
All right, let me come to is it Mr. Pratt?

Mr. Stuart Pratt:
Yes, sir.

Mr. Al Green:
And then if I can see you out, I'll recog ‑ thank you. Okay, go right ahead, sir.

Mr. Stuart Pratt:
Just to set up this circumstance. The real challenge we have with alternative data are loss and I guess lack of guidance as to whether or not this data can be used. So in other words, many consumers have a cellular phone and in fact maybe the only phone that they have, but telecom companies are not clear on whether or not they can report that data to a data exchange database or to a credit reporting database. And so, one of the great impediments that's impinging on the progress towards I guess a more fulsome look at a consumer who may otherwise have a somewhat thin file is this inability in the data industry of us to be able to get that data into our database to do the full and complete analytics and to really deploy better analytical tools that include more consumers in the marketplace. That's our biggest challenge.

Mr. Al Green:
Yes, sir. Mr. Quinn.

Mr. Tom Quinn:
Just so everybody knows, in 2004, Fair Isaac developed and released the score called the FICO expansion score and what this score does is it takes in alternative credit information that's not reported to the big three. So, for example, both positive and negative information on how you manage your checking account, how you manage credit membership relationships. If utility information is provided and verified, the model will consider that as well, and we built that in response to lender questions about wanting to be able to more confidently extend credit to the underserved population. So, this is an alternative they can use when there is not a traditional credit file on the consumer. They can come and get the FICO expansion score.

Mr. Al Green:
Thank you, sir. My time has expired. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. You've been very generous.

Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
Mr. Royce, California. You're recognized for five minutes.

Mr. Ed Royce:
Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I was going to ask Mr. Pratt. Mr. Pratt, as you know, this committee has marked up and the House has passed its Consumer Financial Protection Agency Legislation. That's now in the Senate. What would happen if this agency, armed with broad unchecked authority, began cracking down on what goes into a credit file? What would be the consequences of that?

Mr. Stuart K. Pratt:
Well, I suppose whether it's law or an agency that is involved in as you say the crackdown the concern for us is first of all, there's no science necessarily behind the decisions that would be made. That would be one risk. So you really ‑ I really turned to all these partners. All these competitors on the table are the brilliant folks who are going to help us make a better decision. You know, if data should be in, they're going to tell us where it should be in, how it should be weighted, why it should be weighted, and that's the beauty of this industry. So, to make an arbitrary decision, to exclude a set of data without understanding consequences, is part of the story.


The other part is the death by a thousand cuts. You could run data. You could run a score and say, "What about this piece?" If it's not in, how consequential is that? But my concern is the cumulative effect of removing progressively this piece and that piece and this piece and you ultimately get to a point where you have harmed the system and you have a less effective system. That would be a shame. We have the best credit reporting system in the globe bar none, period.

Mr. Ed Royce:
Well, what would the result be? I mean, what would creditors do? I mean, would they begin to question the integrity of the individual's credit file? What impact would that have on the general appetite for risk among those creditors out there in your opinion?

Mr. Stuart K. Pratt:
It's all suppositional. I'm assuming that creditors would have wider bands for risk. They might not be able to allocate risk as effectively. They might not be able to allocate risk at all to certain segments. You might have less credit in the marketplace. You might have more expensive credit for more consumers. That is inevitably the consequence of removing data from the credit bureau system.

Mr. Ed Royce:
Less extension of credit on the lower end of the credit spectrum probably and when you can't accurately price credit, the cost usually goes up for everybody.

Mr. Stuart Pratt:
Yes, sir.

Mr. Ed Royce:
Let me ask you a second question and maybe I'll ask this to Mr. Oliai. Can you explain how insurance companies use credit information to assist them in underwriting automobile and homeowners' insurance? What's the thumbnail sketch process there?

Mr. Stan Oliai:
It's definitely not 100% my area of expertise but in one involvement I have had with using credit information for insurance scoring, the credit data is put into those scoring models with other information that the insurance companies have and is deemed predictive of whatever negative outcome the insurance company is modeling. So, things like false claims, excessive claims, those sorts of things. So, the role of the credit data, much like in financial services, is as an input to an underwriting decision.

Mr. Ed Royce:
So we've seen studies here as just over in the past that confirmed a very strong correlation between credit scores and risk. Is it fair to say that the use of credit-based insurance scores allows insurers then to more accurately price their policies for the risks that they're covering?

Mr. Stan Oliai:
I believe that to be a fair statement. Yes.

Mr. Ed Royce:
Now, on the same CFPA question, I'm going to ask Ms. Fortney because you were at the FTC. What do you think if the CFPA got the authority over this credit scoring process? What would be your observations on that based upon your experience?

Ms. Anne Fortney:
Well, as Mr. Pratt said, I believe that the difficulty would be if either by law or by regulation, the government attempted to exclude certain characteristics that could be considered, the result would be a less predictive system. That less predictive system would result in either fewer people getting credit or insurance or also paying higher prices.

Mr. Ed Royce:
Mr. Chairman, I want to thank the witnesses for coming out and testifying today and I appreciate it very much.

Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
Congresswoman Jackie Speier, California. You're recognized for five minutes.

Ms. Jackie Speier:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and I really appreciate you holding this hearing today because this issue to me is one of the most important consumer protection issues that we could be addressing and frankly, I don't think we're doing anything. In fact, as I'm listening to the testimony today, it reminds me a great deal of our discussion of credit rating agencies. The credit rating agencies came under a great deal of criticism from this year because one, they had garbage in and so garbage came out. There was no due diligence required by any of the credit rating agencies when they rated these various instruments. 

Two, they also were providing these. They were responsive to issue, not to the consumer who was evaluating whether or not to purchase that particular instrument. And three, they were not subject to the full disclosure by the FTC. And I see similar things going on here, and what I'd like to focus is the error rate that continues to exist in credit reports and the due diligence that none of you really do in order to respond to them.


Now, a recent U.S. PIRG and Consumers Union study found that errors in 25% of the credit reports are serious enough to cause a denial of credit. Now, that's serious when you're denied credit. Now, this ‑ the SCRA has been around for 40 years, and for 40 years, the credit reporting agencies were required to do a level of reinvestigation. But I want to just read now from ‑ this is from a report called "Automated Injustice," and Mr. Chairman, I'd like this submitted for the record.

Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
Without objections to order.

Ms. Jackie Speier:
And in this particular consumer law center report, they speak to this whole issue of the reinvestigation. And now, of course, I've lost my place. Let's see. So the question was asked, "What goes on with this reinvestigation?" And this was a deposition taken of the Vice President of Equifax for Global Consumer Services. Did your employee have telephones on their desk? I don't think so. As part of their compliance with Equifax's procedures, did the employee telephone the consumer as part of the conduction ‑ as part of conducting w reinvestigation? They did not. Did they telephone creditors, the furnishers, as part of conducting the reinvestigation? They did not. Did they telephone anybody from outside DDC or Equifax as part of conducting a reinvestigation? They did not. What about emailing any of those? And as you can see, they didn't do anything.


What they do, the only human contact in the reinvestigation for what I understand is someone reviewing what the furnisher has provided and then giving a two or three-digit code. So, my question first to all of the credit reporting agencies is do you outsource this function to other countries?

Mr. Stuart Pratt:
Well, I'm probably the credit bureau person here at the table since these folks are all actually the heads of the decision sciences' side to these businesses, so they don't actually deal with and manage the credit bureaus.


My response is this. First of all, I'm going to push back on the study that you've quoted because it is not a statistically valid study. It doesn't study a sample that comes anywhere close to the size of a database which includes 200 million consumers. The GAL looked at this and they came to that conclusion. So, Congresswoman, it wasn't me that came to that conclusion. It was the General Accountability Office that came to that conclusion, and we're grateful that they did because this was just a polling and in some cases, it was just employees of a company. So, that really is not indicative of anything.

Ms. Jackie Speier:
I guess my question is, and I'd like to ask it of you again, do you outsource that function?

Mr. Stuart Pratt:
I think our members make different decisions about where they locate their business.

Ms. Jackie Speier:
It's a yes or no answer. Do you outsource?

Mr. Stuart Pratt:
No, I don't think it is a yes or no. I think it's more than that.

Ms. Jackie Speier:
You either outsource or you don't outsource. Do you outsource?

Mr. Stuart Pratt:
Well, outsource here in the U.S. or?

Ms. Jackie Speier:
No, outsource in other countries.

Mr. Stuart Pratt:
I'll tell you what. I will go back to our companies and see if we can get you a better answer.

Ms. Jackie Speier:
Was I fairly accurate in terms of the way your credit reporting agency operates in terms of the reinvestigation?

Mr. Stuart Pratt:
No. Actually, first of all, using a deposition as an indication of how a process works just doesn't work because a lawyer is trained to ask certain questions in a certain way in order to end up in an accusatory situation. That's exactly what a deposition is, to try to pin you into a corner. So, no, I don't think that report reflects accurately at all.

Ms. Jackie Speier:
Mr. Pratt, I asked you a simple question. What reinvestigation procedure do you follow?

Mr. Stuart Pratt:
All of our members follow the Fair Credit Reporting Act. All of our members provide consumers with toll-free access to live personnel after they have received their credit report. All of our members take full and complete information from consumers, and all of our members provide an accurate reflection of that to the lender, and all of members then ask lenders to reinvestigate because they ultimately want them.

Ms. Jackie Speier:
Actually, my time has expired.

Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
Okay. I don't want to be accused of stopping corporate America from speaking but your time has expired. Mr. Ellison, you're recognized for five minutes.

Mr. Keith Ellison:
Mr. Chair, thank you for convening this hearing. Let me thank all of the members of the panel. My first question is for Mr. Pratt. I believe ‑ you know, there's no Spratt on the panel, is there?

Mr. Stuart Pratt:
No, that must be me.

Mr. Keith Ellison:
Yeah, I’m thinking that.

Mr. Stuart Pratt:
I'm Mr. Pratt actually.

Mr. Keith Ellison:
Right, right. On page 18 of your written testimony, you state, "Credit scores remove social bias and provide fair treatment for consumers." You recall that?

Mr. Stuart Pratt:
Yes, sir.

Mr. Keith Ellison:
This is somewhat puzzling to me because in Mr. Vladeck's written statement on behalf of the FTC on page 14, he references a 2007 FTC study on automobile insurance and I'll quote from that. In that study, it says, "The FTC found that credit-based insurance scores are distributed differently among racial and ethnic groups and therefore likely have effect on the insurance premium that those groups pay on average with non-Hispanic white and Asian-American consumers paying less than African-American Hispanic consumers paying more." Do you have any ‑ can you offer any insight into why there might be a discrepancy between, you know, your observation and that of the FTC representative.

Mr. Stuart Pratt:
Thank you for asking the question. It is important to get these points straight so that we have a good record for all of you as members who are ultimately going to have to think through these ‑ these issues further. Our point is that a credit score is blind. It doesn't know my race. It doesn't know my age. All it does is look at empirical data, data on a credit report, and it then comes ultimately, as Mr. Quinn's testimony indicated, the number is scored. A scoring system then generates a number.


Because of that, we removed the kind of lending biases that we once saw in this country and that individual's experience in this country at one time. So scores, because they're blind to these triggers, these ECOA triggers, have removed the risks of those triggers, gender or race for example, from being included somehow in the thinking of the lender who otherwise might say yes. So, with regard to this study, the key is to make sure that a score accurately scores risks. They're may be different. It may be that certain communities have average lower scores than others but the key would be if I walk in, if two different people of two races walk in…

Mr. Keith Ellison:
Mr. Pratt.

Mr. Stuart Pratt:
We just want to make sure they're treated the same

Mr. Keith Ellison:
Hang on, Mr. Pratt. I appreciate your answer.

Mr. Stuart Pratt:
Thank you.

Mr. Keith Ellison:
And I don't want to suppress you in any way, but it's just they only gave me five minutes.


So, Mr. Quinn, if you would help me with this question. On page 9 of Mr. Hendricks' written testimony, he states "It is important to understand that even if the consumer buys his FICO score, it could differ significantly from the FICO score pulled by the lender." Do you agree with that statement? And if you do, can you explain the rationale for why there might be two different score?

Mr. Tom Quinn:
Sure. So, if a consumer were to get their FICO score today on myFICO.com and then apply for a loan a month from now, that time period could cause new information to be reported on the credit report.

Mr. Keith Ellison:
Excuse me, Mr. Quinn. So are you saying that the scores are the same but if you don't ‑ but they change over time quickly? Are you essentially refuting what he is saying by saying that they're the same but time may cause a course of change?

Mr. Tom Quinn:
Right. So, the algorithm that calculates the score stays the same potentially, but the information that gets fed into the model can change because new information is updated every second on the credit reporting databases, and that can cause the score to change if new information hits the file.

Mr. Keith Ellison:
Mr. Hendricks, what do you say to that?

Mr. Evan Hendricks:
Well, these other differences can be caused by ‑ the lenders might be using the FICO model for credit cards. They're for auto loans. There are some differences there that can cause the differences. I just think, you know, between you and Congresswoman Spiere and the members, you are asking a really good question, and I think it points to the fact that we don't have great data to answer these questions and to get the great data. We have to kind of look at our enforcement infrastructure. And I think what these credit bureaus do is so important that we should look at them more as public utilities and not kind of overpower them.

Mr. Keith Ellison:
So let me ask you this question. What's the market share? Has there ever been a lawsuit? I understand there was an antitrust lawsuit? What's the outcome of that? And do you foresee any level of market concentrations such that the market is so concentrated by a few players that if they ‑ even if they collude in an undeliberate way, if you understand what I'm trying to say, that we end up with sort of a groupthink problem that it ends up excluding people. Do you have any views on this subject?

Mr. Evan Hendricks:
Yeah. For the foreseeable future, what you see is what you get. We got the big three and they play an incredibly important role in people's lives.

Mr. Keith Ellison:
Are the big three 100%.

Mr. Evan Hendricks:
Yeah, they control ‑ they're the three nationwide databases.

Mr. Keith Ellison:
Now, there was a lawsuit, an antitrust lawsuit. What happened with that?

Mr. Evan Hendricks:
As far as I know, it got dismissed.

Mr. Keith Ellison:
When you get a market with three.

Mr. Barrett Burns:
The lawsuit is still pending.

Mr. Evan Hendricks:
Oh, is it?

Mr. Barrett Burns:
Yes. If I can clarify that, the…

Mr. Keith Ellison:
Unanimous consent for 30 seconds.

Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
15 seconds to clarify for this.

Mr. Keith Ellison:
15 seconds.

Mr. Barrett Burns:
If I can clarify that the ‑ the lawsuit went to trial and was dismissed at the trial. It's apparently under appeal now, but the lawsuit was won by us.

Mr. Keith Ellison:
I have any more questions. Thank you, gentleman and ladies.

Chairman Luis Gutierrez:
Thank you. I ask unanimous consent that Ms. Kilroy of Ohio, a member of the Full Committee be allowed to sit on this panel and ask questions for five minutes. If there are no objections to order, then the lady is recognized for five minutes.

Ms. Mary Jo Kilroy:
Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I thank all the witnesses for their appearance here today. Mr. Quinn, I understand that FICO is the most widely used system by credit reporting agencies. Is that correct?

Mr. Tom Quinn:
We position it's the most widely credit score used by lenders.

Ms. Mary Jo Kilroy:
By lenders. And to these lenders and any other entity that may use these credit scores, they are putting them to very important uses in the economy, both for the lender and for a consumer that is attempting to obtain a loan, to buy a car, to buy a house. Is that correct?

Mr. Tom Quinn:
Yes, the lenders will use the score in addition to other information to determine if the consumer can be approved for credit and to set terms for that credit.

Ms. Mary Jo Kilroy:
And so those terms can mean that one consumer with a certain score would pay over the course of a loan considerably less than other consumer might pay.

Mr. Tom Quinn:
Potentially, yes.

Ms. Mary Jo Kilroy:
So, it has a pretty heavy impact in the lives of individual consumers.

Mr. Tom Quinn:
Potentially, yes.

Ms. Mary Jo Kilroy:
Now, for those scores to be useful for the lender to make the right decisions and to be fair to the consumers since they have significant financial repercussions, it's important for those credit scores to be validly predictive of consumer behavior in terms of handling their finances, correct?

Mr. Tom Quinn:
Yes, the lenders only want to use credit scores that they feel comfortable, rank order risk and predict risk.

Ms. Mary Jo Kilroy:
And so data that has not been proven to be predictive should not be included in the credit score.

Mr. Tom Quinn:
Data that is not proven to be predictive should not be in the credit score, I would agree.

Ms. Mary Jo Kilroy:
And what you want to do is predict how that person handles his or her finances, whether or not they can live in their means, correct?

Mr. Tom Quinn:
The model is designed to rank order risk so it's predicting their ability to handle future credit obligations.

Ms. Mary Jo Kilroy:
Now, you might have heard a little bit maybe this week or even before this week that Americans around this country are having huge issues with health insurance in fact that 72 million Americans are affected by medical bill problems or accrued medical debt. Do you agree with that?

Mr. Tom Quinn:
I have no ‑ I'm not an expert in that area. I can't comment yes or no.

Ms. Mary Jo Kilroy:
Well, when you're looking at credit scoring, would medical debt be one of the areas that are ‑ is included on your credit scores?

Mr. Tom Quinn:
We do not consider any medical debt information in the score. We do consider medical collection information.

Ms. Mary Jo Kilroy:
So, a person who may have had a perfectly wonderful credit score but got hit by a bus or received a number of statements that say this is not a bill and a confusing array, a post-emergency room visit, or have issues with their insurance company about paying those medical bills, that person with that good credit person could be hit with a collections issue with respect to medical debt, correct? And so that medical debt would in one way or another end up affecting adversely their credit score.

Mr. Tom Quinn:
The medical collection item that gets reported to the bureau could impact their score. That's correct.

Ms. Mary Jo Kilroy:
Now, if a person takes some time but actually pays or resolves that medical debt or medical collections issue, would you say that that is predictive of how they handle their finances?

Mr. Tom Quinn:
What the data shows us when we analyze medical collection information is that the fact that the medical collection item occurred is predictive of future risk and that's why the model considers that information.

Ms. Mary Jo Kilroy:
If a person makes those efforts and pays off their medical debt, that derogatory information with respect if it had gone to collections, that stays in their credit records for years. Isn't that correct?

Mr. Tom Quinn:
My understanding is that the collection information can stay on the credit report for up to seven years.

Ms. Mary Jo Kilroy:
And so you would argue that someone who paid off their medical debt and resolved that issue has the same kind of predictive value with somebody who runs up their credit card, buying big screen TVs or stereos or other consumer goods?

Mr. Tom Quinn:
What the data shows us is that the presence of medical collection information on the consumer's report is predictive of future risk, but it's important to understand that the model is not looking just at that component, so it's looking at the overall picture of the consumer's credit report and so, it's the total picture that's driving the score, not just one data element.

Ms. Mary Jo Kilroy:
So, Craig Watts is a spokesperson for your company, is that correct?

Mr. Tom Quinn:
Craig Watts works in our Public Relations Department, yes.

Ms. Mary Jo Kilroy:
And didn't he make a statement that paid medical debt was not indicative of somebody's ability to pay but predictive of how they're going to handle their debt?

Mr. Al Green:
If I may, I'm going to ask that you give your answer in writing. We've had a call for a vote, and what we'd like to do is dismiss this panel and try and get through the next so as not to have them come back and have us come back. 

So if you would give your answer in writing, the time has expired. Thank you. And I'd like to thank this panel and of course, we may submit to you additional questions in writing and members will have the opportunity to do so within the next 30 days. Thank you very much. You are dismissed. 
And if you will move quickly, we'll get to the next panel and we will ask that this panel give us your statements as quickly as possible and in so doing giving us your statements as quickly as possible, there may be some members who will want to submit their questions in writing which means that you won't have to wait sometime for us to come back. 
Thank you, members of the second panel. And if I may, I have a quick introductions and we will move right to your statements and if you can summarize as best you can, it will help us and help you because we are trying not to hold you longer than we have to which means you won't have to come back after a series of votes. 
We have Ms. Sandra, last name is Braunstein and she is the Director of Consumer and Community Affairs with the Federal Reserve Board of Directors; Mr. David Vladeck, and Mr. Vladeck is the Bureau of Consumer Protection Federal Trade Commission. You are with them and we thank both of you and we will move immediately to Ms. Braunstein for your statement and if you can summarize, it would be helpful. 
Ms. Sandra Braunstein:
Okay. Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman, Ranking Member Hanserling and Members of the SubCommittee. Thank you for this opportunity to address the role of the Federal Reserve Board in ensuring that lenders use credit scoring systems appropriately to evaluate consumers' credit risk. The three roles that the Board plays in this regard are as a rule writer, a supervisor, and a research institution. 
As a rule writer, the Board has sole rule writing authority for Regulation B which implements equal Credit Opportunity Act or COA. And the Board has shared rule making authority with other regular scoring agencies under the Fair and Accurate Credit Transactions Act of 2003, the FACT Act. In January, the Board and the FTC issued final rules to implement the risk-based pricing provisions of the FACT Act. Creditors still engage in risk-based pricing generally offer more favorable terms to consumers with good credit histories and less favorable terms to consumers with imperfect credit histories. 
The risk-based pricing provisions give consumers who are granted credit on less favorable terms protection similar to those afforded to consumers who are denied credit. Denied consumers receive an Adverse Action Notice. Under the new rules, a creditor who uses credit reports can provide a risk-based pricing notice to those consumers who receive credit on terms that are not as favorable as the firms the creditor has provided to other customers. Those consumers can contact the credit bureau to obtain a free copy of their credit report. 
As an alternative, creditors can provide a credit score disclosure instead of a risk-based pricing notice. Under the credit score disclosure alternative, consumers who apply for credit automatically receive a free credit score and information about their score in the notice. I expect that many creditors will use the risk for credit score alternative which will give consumers access to their credit scores without charge. 
As a supervisor of financial institutions, the Board conducts fair lending examinations to ensure that financial institutions are using credit score models that comply with the COA. A COA generally prohibits creditors from discriminating against an applicant in a credit transaction on the basis of race, national origin, age, marital status, or sex. Examiners ensure the prohibited bases are not used in the credit scoring system. Examiners also ensure that creditors are not using credit scoring systems in a way that has a disparity impact on protected groups. Properly constructed credit scoring systems may help lenders facilitate consistency and limit lender discretion in the credit evaluation process which promotes fair lending. 
As a research institution, the Federal Reserve studies significant trends in credit markets, publishes their research, and encourages research by other parties. As directed by Congress, the Board prepared a report on credit scoring including how it has affected the availability and affordability of credit, the relationship between credit scores and other factors, and whether the use of credit scoring systems has fair lending implications under a COA. The Board's report is the first comprehensive study of its kind. It describes original research conducted by Board staff. 
For this research, Board staff developed a unique database that links credit records and personal demographic information. The findings of the Board's report are significant. Major findings include: 
(1) Credit scoring has increased the availability and affordability of credit. Credit scoring has increased the consistency and objectivity of credit evaluations and has reduced some of the discretion that could lead to discrimination. 
(2) Different populations on average have substantially different scores based on differences on their credit histories. 
(3) For every population group considered, credit scores consistently predict the credit risk of individuals, that's regardless of race, ethnicity, sex, or age. Persons with higher or better credit scores consistently perform better than persons with lower scores. The study found that for all population's groups, interest rates, and average estimated denials rates consistently decline as credit scores increase. 
I will be happy to answer any questions from the Committee members. 
Mr. Al Green:
Move to Mr. Vladeck for his five minutes and if you can be a little bit briefer that five, that would be appreciated. 

Mr. David Vladeck:
I'll try. Mr. Chairman, Ranking Member Hanserling, Members of the Committee, my name is David Vladeck. I'm the director of the Bureau of Consumer Protection at the Federal Trade Commission. 
The views expressed in a written testimony were approved by the commission, the views that I may state here, those are my own and should not be ascribed to the commissioner or any member. I will leave to you our written testimony which describes in detail the 30 FACT Act projects that the commission has completed including rule makings, studies, and educational campaigns. I'd like to take a few minutes just to highlight our responses to some of the issues raised in our invitation letter. 
First, in addition to the 2000 study that we did on the use of credit scores, in credit-based insurance scores in the automobile market, we are currently working on a follow-up report analyzing the effects of credit-based insurance scores used for homeowner's insurance. The report will use extensive insurance policy data collected through the use of compulsory process from the nine largest insurance firms. 
Second, we talked a lot today about the issue of accuracy of credit reports. Ensuring the accuracy of credit reports is crucial for consumers for reasons that go to their very livelihood. If information in their credit report is inaccurate, consumers could suffer devastating economic consequences. They could be wrongfully denied credit, insurance, housing, or employment. We're trying to improve the accuracy of consumer reports in several ways. 
First, we've recently issued amendments to the free credit report rule to address deceptive advertising in the advertising of free credit reports. With the new disclosures that we're requiring, we believe we strengthen the ability of consumers to obtain no strings attached free credit reports. Additionally, we've worked with other agencies including the Federal Reserve to issue the Furnisher Rules which call on furnishers to improve the accuracy of information they provide to the credit reporting agencies and give consumers the right to dispute errors in their reports directly with the furnishers of the information as well as to making disputes with the consumer reporting agencies. 
Finally, let me turn to the transparency issue that we've talked about already. Credit scores are used widely by creditors. They affect whether a consumer can obtain a loan and how much the consumer will have to pay for it. We've long been advocates for access to credit scores and information about what those scores mean and how they're using. The FACT Act gave consumers the right to purchase a credit score from credit reporting agencies and required certain mortgage lenders to provide free credit scores to home loan applicants. 
As a result, consumers have had better access to credit scores over the last couple of years. But we've taken additional steps to improve that. As I mentioned, the FTC along with the Federal Reserve Board issued its risk-based pricing rule which requires certain companies to provide consumers with notice when their report information has been used to provide them less favorable loan terms than other consumers. 
But the rule also gives companies the option to provide all of their customers with a free credit score along with information about that score. And we are hoping that companies will take this option to provide consumers at no charge to the consumer their credit scores. We've also engaged in research and a great deal of public education on the issue of credit scores they use. 
We look forward to working with the Subcommittee on these and other consumer protection issues. I will be glad to answer any questions you might have in writing. I understand the time pressures. 
Mr. Al Green:
Thank you very much for your understanding. I'm going to -- I'll ask my questions in writing, the Ranking Member has concurred. And if the members who are here, Ms. Speier, if you can ask one question perhaps we can get one answer to that one question and Ms. Kilroy will extend you a similar courtesy if the question can be as terse as possible, please. 
Ms. Jackie Speier:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. To you, Mr. Vladeck, I don’t think there's any teeth in the reinvestigation requirements under the FACT Act or the original act. Do you concur on that? And if you do, what should we do to make sure reinvestigation does take place? 

Mr. David Vladeck:
Well, I think there are two answers and I'll try to be as brief as I can. I'd like to amplify this answer in writing if I may. First is the Furnisher Rule takes effect in July. We think that this is going to have a substantial impact on the ability of consumers to dispute information in their credit files in getting the answer. And that coupled with the accuracy parts and the dispute parts of the rules, we think we'll go some way to do it. I would also say we're doing this through enforcement. We are now requiring collection agencies when there are disputes to go back when there is a consumer dispute to rely more on simply the one page that they get from the debt buying agencies they get. 
So we're trying to attack the accuracy issue in a number of ways. Most critically, we are engaged in a massive study on the accuracy to get a better sense of what causes these errors and how we can better fix them. The accuracy studies an ongoing process but we hope to be able to provide answers to the questions about accuracy within the next year or 18 months. 
Mr. Al Green:
Thank you, sir. And if I may, I'm going to ask if you would respond in writing and we'll go on to Ms. Kilroy with a terse question if at all possible, please. 

Ms. Mary Jo Kilroy:
Thank you. When you take a look at the scoring systems at various credit reporting agency used in order to determine whether or not they are using a proxy that would have a discriminatory impact. Have you taken a look at such issues as whether or not everyone or particularly is penalized with their credit score based on a number of foreclosures in the area or looked at other kind of microtargeting issues that a credit scoring company might utilize as many direct mail and other kind of marketers do, even politicians use microtargeting these days. 
Mr. Al Green:
Thank you. And we'll ask if you would, to submit your answers in writing. We are beyond the time for the vote. We are beyond zero. And some of the members are going to have to rush over for this vote. 
At this time I'd like to indicate that the chair notes as some members may have additional questions for the witnesses which they may wish to submit in writing and I shall be one of them. Therefore, without objection the hearing record will remain open for 30 days for members to submit their written questions to the witnesses and to place their responses in the record. The Subcommittee hearing is now adjourned, and thank you so much. 

